
IN THE UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT  

FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS  

HOUSTON DIVISION 
 
In re: ) 

 ) Case No. 24-34908 (CML)  
GLOBAL WOUND CARE MEDICAL GROUP, ) 
a Professional Corporation, ) Chapter 11 
 ) 
Debtor. ) 
______________________________________ )  
 

RESPONSE TO FIRST DAY DECLARATION 
 

United States of America, on behalf of itself and the U.S. Department of Health and Human 

Services (together, the “United States”) files this response to the Declaration of Ralph Cetrulo in 

Support of Chapter 11 Petition and First Day Motions (the “First Day Declaration”) in the above-

captioned case, and shows as follows.  

1. The Debtor, a California professional corporation headquartered in Los Angeles, 

California, filed this case on October 21, 2024. In its list of the top twenty unsecured creditors, the 

Debtor disclosed a single creditor, Wound Pros Management Group (“Wound Pros MG”), holding 

an alleged claim in excess of $155 million under a Management Services Agreement with the 

Debtor.1 

2. The First Day Declaration indicates that the Debtor filed this case after CMS 

suspended its right to receive Medicare reimbursements based on “credible allegations of fraud.”  

According to Mr. Cetrulo, the events leading to the case were as follows: 

On September 11, 2024, without any prior notice, Qlarant Integrity Solutions, LLC 
(“Qlarant”) informed the Debtor that all Medicare payments had been suspended (the 
“Payment Suspension”). . .The Payment Suspension is an unnecessary, drastic action based 

 
1 The Petition lists Wound Pros MG with an address identical to that of the Debtor. In the First 
Day Declaration, Cetrulo, who acts both as the Chief Financial Officer of the Debtor and in an 
unspecified role with Wound Pros MG, states that Wound Pros MG “manages” and “supports” 
the Debtor’s operations.  (First Day Decl. ¶ 1, 16). 
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on vague, unsubstantiated allegations of fraud. The Debtor has requested additional 
information regarding the allegations but none has been provided. . . . At most, Qlarant has 
identified a run-of-the-mill payment dispute—instances of potential good-faith billing 
errors that have been rectified. 
 

(First Day Decl. ¶ ¶ 28-29). 

3. To say the least, the First Day Declaration presents a grossly inaccurate picture of 

pre-petition events involving the United States and the Debtor and Wound Pros MG. The Debtors 

and Wound Pros MG have been aware of the allegations underlying the Medicare payment 

suspension for over a year. Such allegations, in part, led to issuance of Civil Investigative Demands 

(“CIDs”) to Global, Wound Pros MG, and a number of other “Wound Pros” entities, many of 

which had Medicare billing privileges revoked in 2023. Neither the Debtor nor Wound Pros MG 

complied with the CIDs, and the United States filed, on June 27, 2024, a Petition of the United 

States For Order To Show Cause And Summary Enforcement Of Civil Investigative Demands (the 

“Enforcement Petition”) seeking to enforce the CIDs and compel the respondents (including 

Global and Wound Pros MG) to comply with the information requests therein. That petition 

remains pending in the Eastern District of California in the case entitled United States v. Wound 

Pros Management Group, Inc., Case No. 2:24-mc-00263-DAD-CKD (E.D. Cal, June 27, 2024). 

A copy of the petition is attached as Exhibit “A” to this Response.2 

4. As set forth in the Enforcement Petition, the United States sought information from 

the Debtor, Wound Pros MG, and other respondents in connection with investigations of the 

United States into whether Respondents “made false statements in claims submitted to the federal 

healthcare programs in violation of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733, the Anti-

Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b, the Physician Self-Referral (“Stark”) Law, 42 U.S.C. § 

 
2  While the Respondents have produced some documents subsequent to the Enforcement Petition, the parties remain 
in ongoing discussions concerning the terms of compliance with the CIDs. 
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1395nn, and common law.”  (Enforcement Petition, ¶ 10). The United States described a variety 

of allegations being investigated, including that Respondents “falsely stated that services provided 

by nonphysician personnel were ‘incident to’ a physician’s services,” that the Respondents “billed 

Medicare claims for reimbursement through entities other than the one that performed the 

services,” and numerous other allegations.3 Id. 

5. The United States’ investigations continue into the Debtors and Wound Pros. In 

part, those investigations relate to the creation of the Debtor itself. The Debtor was incorporated 

in California on March 20, 2023, scant days after numerous Wound Pros entities and their owner, 

Christopher Otiko, had their Medicare billing privileges revoked. The Debtor’s ostensible owner, 

Owen B. Ellington, was previously an owner and/or manager of at least one of the revoked Wound 

Pros entities. The revoked entities “chief legal officer” executed and filed the articles of 

incorporation of the Debtor.  And, chiefly, Wound Pros MG has acted—and continues to act—as 

the “manager” of the Debtor, obtaining what appear to be tens of millions in “management fees” 

from the Debtor on a monthly basis. 

6. The First Day Declaration presents an incomplete and inaccurate view of the 

Debtor’s, and Wound Pros MG’s, knowledge and understanding of the allegations against them, 

and the record should be corrected to reflect that fact. The United States reserves all rights to take 

further action concerning the Debtor and the present bankruptcy case. 

Respectfully submitted, this 24th day of October, 2024. 
 

 BRIAN M. BOYNTON 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General 

 
3  The CIDs themselves provided far greater detail about the allegations involving the Debtor and Wound Pros. 
Among other matters, the CIDs seeking information concerning “Your or Wound Pros' ability to participate in the 
federal healthcare programs, revocation by CMS, and any notifications from CMS regarding any actual, potential, or 
suspected failure to comply with CMS requirements.” CID, attached as Exhibit 7 to Enforcement Petition, Doc. 
Request #8). 
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/s/Augustus T. Curtis         
KIRK T. MANHARDT 
MARY A. SCHMERGEL 
AUGUSTUS T. CURTIS  
ANDREW WARNER 
Commercial Litigation Branch Civil Division 
Department of Justice 
1100 L Street, N.W., Room 7024 

 (202) 307-0356 
Attorneys for the United States 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

The undersigned hereby certifies that I caused a copy of this Notice of Appearance to be 
served on October 24, 2024, upon those parties who have registered for the Court’s electronic 
noticing system (CM/ECF) and by electronic mail on the parties requesting electronic service of 
notices. 

 
 /s/ Augustus T. Curtis 
Augustus T. Curtis, Trial Counsel 
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PHILLIP A. TALBERT 
United States Attorney 
DAVID E. THIESS 
Assistant United States Attorney 
501 I Street, Suite 10-100 
Sacramento, CA  95814 
Telephone:  (916) 554-2700 
Facsimile:  (916) 554-2900 
David.Thiess@usdoj.gov 
 
BRIAN M. BOYNTON 
Principal Deputy Assistant Attorney General 
JAMIE A. YAVELBERG 
ANDY MAO 
LAURA E. HILL 
Department of Justice 
Civil Division 
Commercial Litigation Branch 
175 N Street, NE, 9th Floor 
Washington, DC 20002 
Telephone: (202) 514-7900 
Laura.E.Hill@usdoj.gov 
 
Attorneys for the United States 
 
 
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 
 
UNITED STATES, 
 
   Petitioner, 
 
v. 
 
WOUND PROS MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC.; 
WOUND PROS HOLDINGS, P.C.; WOUND 
PROS ENTERPRISES LLC; WOUND PROS 
TECHNOLOGY INC.; WOUND PROS 
VENTURES, LP; WOUND PROS, P.C.; GLOBAL 
WOUND CARE MEDICAL GROUP; WOUND 
PROS TEXAS PLLC; WOUND PROS GEORGIA 
P.C.; WOUND PROS NEVADA INC.; WOUND 
PROS DOCTORS P.C.; and WOUND PROS 
TENNESSEE, P.C., 
 
   Respondents. 
 

CASE NO.  24 Misc. ____________ 
 
PETITION OF THE UNITED STATES 
FOR ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AND 
SUMMARY ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL 
INVESTIGATIVE DEMANDS 23-1300 TO 
23-1306 AND 23-1308 TO 23-1312 
 

Case 2:24-mc-00263-DJC-AC   Document 1   Filed 06/27/24   Page 1 of 8
Case 24-34908   Document 17-1   Filed in TXSB on 10/24/24   Page 1 of 60

mailto:David.Thiess@usdoj.gov


 
 

2 
 
 PETITION OF THE U.S. FOR SUMMARY ENFORCEMENT OF CIDS 23-1300 TO 23-1306 AND 23-1308 TO 23-1312 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 This matter relates to an investigation by the United Sates under the False Claims Act (“FCA”), 

31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq. Pursuant to 31 U.S.C. § 3733(j), the United States respectfully petitions this 

Court for an Order directing Respondents to comply with Civil Investigative Demands 23-1300 to 23-

1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312 (“the CIDs”), which were served on counsel for Respondents on 

September 29, 2023. As set forth further below, in the nearly nine months since service of the CIDs, 

Respondents have produced few of the documents that the CIDs require to be produced and have refused 

to identify or commit to a date by which they would produce key categories of documents. They have 

also only fully answered one of the twelve interrogatories. 

 In support of this Petition to enforce the CIDs, the United States provides the following: 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding under 31 U.S.C. § 3733(j) and 28 U.S.C. 

§ 1331. 

2. Venue is proper under 31 U.S.C. § 3733(j). 

PARTIES 

3. Petitioner is the United States, filing this petition on behalf of the Department of Health 

and Human Services (“HHS”), Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”); the Department 

of Defense (“DOD”); and the Department of Veterans Affairs (“VA”). CMS provides funding for the 

Medicare program, to pay for the costs of certain healthcare services, including physician services. DOD 

administers the TRICARE program, a health care program for active duty servicemembers. VA provides 

health care benefits to retired servicemembers. 

4. Respondents are Wound Pros Management Group, Wound Pros Holdings, Wound Pros 

Enterprises, Wound Pros Technology, Wound Pros Ventures, Wound Pros PC, Global Wound Care 

Medical Group, Wound Pros Texas, Wound Pros Georgia, Wound Pros Nevada, Wound Pros Doctors, 

Case 2:24-mc-00263-DJC-AC   Document 1   Filed 06/27/24   Page 2 of 8
Case 24-34908   Document 17-1   Filed in TXSB on 10/24/24   Page 2 of 60



 
 

3 
 
 PETITION OF THE U.S. FOR SUMMARY ENFORCEMENT OF CIDS 23-1300 TO 23-1306 AND 23-1308 TO 23-1312 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

and Wound Pros Tennessee. Each of the Respondents has billed Medicare for patient services within the 

Eastern District of California.  

ISSUANCE AND SERVICE OF THE CIDs  
 

5. As described in the Memorandum accompanying this Petition, this investigation arises 

under the FCA, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729 et seq. The FCA authorizes the United States to issue CIDs for the 

production of information relevant to FCA investigations. 

6. On September 27, 2023, the CIDs were issued pursuant to the FCA by Jamie Ann 

Yavelberg, Director, U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, Commercial Litigation Branch, who is 

a designee of the Attorney General under 31 U.S.C. 3733(a)(1). See 28 C.F.R. Part 0, Subpt. Y App. 

7. On September 29, 2023, the United States served the CIDs on Respondents by sending a 

copy to Respondents’ then-counsel, Keith Greer. Since December 21, 2023, Respondents have been 

represented by current counsel, Hooper Lundy & Bookman. 

8. The CIDs each seek production of documents responsive to twelve document requests 

and answers to twelve interrogatories. 

9. As authorized by the FCA, the CIDs required each Respondent to produce responsive 

documents within 30 days of receiving the CIDs and to produce answers to the interrogatories within 20 

days of receiving the CIDs. See 31 U.S.C. § 3733(a)(2)(E). 

10. As stated in the CIDs, the United States is seeking such information and documents from 

Respondents in the course of an FCA investigation regarding whether Respondents and others: 

made false statements in claims submitted to the federal healthcare programs in violation 
of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733, the Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. 
§ 1320a-7b, the Physician Self-Referral (“Stark”) Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn, and common 
law. Specifically, we are investigating whether Wound Pros submitted or caused the 
submission of (1) claims for reimbursement falsely stating that services provided by non-
physician personnel were “incident to” a physician’s services; (2) claims for medically 
unnecessary skin substitutes and associated services; (3) point of service information 
falsely indicating that services were provided in an office setting; (4) claims for 
reimbursement through entities other than the one that performed the services; and (5) 
claims for durable medical equipment based on self-referrals in violation of the Stark Law. 
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We further are investigating whether Wound Pros paid or caused the payment of unlawful 
kickbacks to personnel in exchange for the personnel ordering products and services 
reimbursable by the federal healthcare programs. 
 
11. The United States issued the CIDs to Respondents because the United States has reason to 

believe that Respondents are in possession, custody, or control of documents and information relevant to 

this investigation. 

12. The information and documents sought by the CIDs are reasonably relevant to the United 

States’ investigation under the FCA inquiry, and the CIDs are not indefinite nor unduly burdensome. 

RESPONDENTS HAVE NOT PRODUCED ANY EMAILS OR SLACK DATA AND 
ARE UNWILLING TO PROVIDE PROJECTED PRODUCTION TIMELINES FOR SUCH 

13. Nearly nine months after service of the CIDs, Respondents have produced few responsive 

documents.  

14. Respondents have not produced any communications that are responsive to the CIDs. The 

CIDs require the production of communications relevant to each document request. Since November 2023, 

the United States has sought to coordinate with Respondents and repeatedly requested a plan for 

production of documents responsive to the CID, focusing on responsive communications. Consistently 

throughout discussions with counsel for Respondents, the United States has requested Respondents 

prioritize the production of relevant messages from two platforms the United States believes were used 

extensively in connection with the issues under investigation, email and Slack.  

15. Despite a lengthy back-and-forth with Respondents regarding their plan for reviewing 

email, Respondents have only just begun the actual review of emails for production and have been unable 

to provide a projected production timeline. On April 19, 2024, Respondents identified their plans to use 

Technical Assistance Review (TAR), which reviews documents with the assistance of artificial 

intelligence technology. Approximately one month later, on May 17, 2024, Respondents provided the 

United States a 3-page proposed TAR protocol, outlining certain general parameters for the identification 

of relevant emails. The proposed TAR protocol requires input from human reviewers to identify relevant 
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and non-relevant emails to “train” the technology. Despite this step, on May 28, 2024, Respondents 

notified the government that they just began reviewing emails on June 21. Respondents remain unable to 

estimate when they will produce any emails. 

16. Similarly, Respondents have not produced any Slack data. Respondents have notified the 

government that they intend to produce all Slack channels that include the word “biologic” or “biologics.” 

For the remaining Slack data, an additional review will be required, and Respondents have stated they are 

still deciding whether Slack messages will be included within their TAR protocol. While Respondents 

have projected that they will produce the “biologic” or “biologics” channels by the end of the month, they 

have provided no timeline for the remaining Slack data. Further they have been unable to provide a date 

by which they will decide whether they intend to include Slack data in the TAR protocol; a date by which 

the Slack review will commence; or a projected timeline for producing the remaining Slack data. 

17. Further, while the government has agreed to Respondents’ plan to prioritize production of 

emails, Slack data, and interrogatory answers, Respondents have not outlined how they plan to identify 

other documents responsive to the CIDs, such as certain contracts and audits regarding the matters under 

investigation. Respondents have made certain limited productions of these materials but explained that 

they were not complete or comprehensive. Respondents have not (1) provided a plan for the review or 

production of these materials; (2) agreed to include them within TAR review; or (3) described how these 

documents are maintained by the Respondents. Further, we understand that Respondents’ counsel remain 

unfamiliar with their clients’ folder structures and document storage.  

18. Not only have the CID recipients failed to produce these categories of documents, but, 

while negotiating productions, they have also repeatedly missed their own proposed deadlines or been 

unwilling to provide estimated deadline. And they have failed to begin work on the components of the 

production plan as discussed with the United States.  
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19. For instance, with respect to Respondents’ email production, on January 17, 2024, 

Respondents notified the United States that they were on track to provide proposed search terms and hit 

counts by January 31, 2024. On January 31, 2024, Respondents did not provide such information. On 

February 1, 2024, the parties met and conferred on this topic. On February 16, 2024, over two weeks later, 

the entities provided proposed search terms, but the search terms were extremely limited and not 

appropriate for an investigation of this magnitude. The government sent additional search terms on March 

7.  

20. Respondents then notified the government that they may use TAR to review documents 

that hit on search terms. The government requested that Respondents confirm by March 29, 2024, whether 

they intend to use TAR and, if so, provide their proposed TAR protocol by April 9, 2024. Respondents 

agreed to let the government know whether they planned to use TAR by April 2, not March 29, and also 

agreed to share a proposed TAR protocol by April 9. Respondents did not confirm whether they intended 

to use TAR by April 2, nor did Respondents provide a TAR protocol. Respondents notified the government 

on April 18, two and half weeks after their proposed deadline of April 2, that they intend to use TAR. 

Respondents did not provide a proposed TAR protocol until May 17, 2024, over a month after the agreed-

upon deadline of April 9.  

21. The Respondents have provided five sets of interrogatory answers, dated November 10, 

2023, December 4, 2023, April 1, 2024, May 31, 2024, and June 21, 2024. The first two interrogatory 

productions purported to answer all twelve interrogatories, but Respondents subsequently notified the 

government that all of the answers were incomplete and needed to be amended. On April 1, 2024, 

Respondents amended five of the interrogatories. Respondents subsequently notified the government that 

all but one of these answers required amendment. On May 31, 2024, Respondents provided four additional 

amended answers, but those answers raised concerns regarding completeness and clarity. The government 

responded with specific questions and comments regarding those answers on June 5, 2024, to which 
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Respondents have not provided any responses. On June 21, 2024, Respondents answered one interrogatory 

but failed to include a certification of compliance. Despite five productions, Respondents have only fully 

addressed one interrogatory. Respondents have also missed several of their own proposed deadlines to 

answer interrogatories and, to date, have not provided a timeline for answering the remaining 

interrogatories.  

RESPONDENTS HAVE NOT FILED A PETITION TO MODIFY OR SET ASIDE THE CIDS 

22. The CIDs directed Respondents to produce all documents by October 30, 2023, thirty 

days after service of the Demands. The CIDs directed Respondents to answer the interrogatories by 

October 19, 2023, 20 days from receipt of the Demand.  

23. Under the FCA, 31 U.S.C. § 3733(j)(2)(A)(i), the deadline for Respondents to petition to 

modify or set aside CIDs 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312 was no later than October 30, 2023. 

24. To date, Respondents have not petitioned to modify or set aside the CIDs. 

25. It has been over 270 days since Respondents received service of the CIDs. Yet Respondents 

have produced no emails or Slack data and only a small portion of the other documents subject to the CIDs 

(around 5,600 documents in total, which the Respondents have identified as incomplete representations 

of the document categories required by the CID). Further, Respondents have refused to provide any 

deadlines by which they will fully respond to the CIDs. Respondents have also only fully answered one 

of the twelve interrogatories. 

26. Accordingly, summary enforcement of the CIDs is appropriate. 

WHEREFORE, the United States respectfully request as follows: 

1. That this Court enter an Order to Show Cause directing Respondents to show cause as to 

why they should not be compelled to comply with CIDs 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312; and 
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2. Ultimately, that this Court enter an Order directing Respondents to comply with CIDs 23-

1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312 on or before the deadlines proposed by the United States or such 

other deadlines set by the Court. 

DATED: June 27, 2024    Respectfully submitted, 
 
       BRIAN M. BOYNTON 
       Principal Assistant Attorney General 
 
       PHILLIP A. TALBERT 
       United States Attorney 
 
       JAMIE ANN YAVELBERG 
       ANDY MAO 
 
      By:  /s/ Laura Hill 
       LAURA HILL 
       Trial Attorney 
 

DAVID E. THIESS 
       Assistant United States Attorney 
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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
 

 
 
UNITED STATES, 
 
   Petitioner, 
 
v. 
 
WOUND PROS MANAGEMENT GROUP, INC.; 
WOUND PROS HOLDINGS, P.C.; WOUND 
PROS ENTERPRISES LLC; WOUND PROS 
TECHNOLOGY INC.; WOUND PROS 
VENTURES, LP; WOUND PROS, P.C.; GLOBAL 
WOUND CARE MEDICAL GROUP; WOUND 
PROS TEXAS PLLC; WOUND PROS GEORGIA 
P.C.; WOUND PROS NEVADA INC.; WOUND 
PROS DOCTORS P.C.; and WOUND PROS 
TENNESSEE, P.C., 
 
   Respondents. 
 

CASE NO.  24 Misc. ____________ 
 
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF THE 
UNITED STATES’ PETITION FOR AN 
ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE AND 
SUMMARY ENFORCEMENT OF CIVIL 
INVESTIGATIVE DEMANDS 23-1300 TO 
23-1306 AND 23-1308 TO 23-1312 
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 By its petition, the United States of America seeks to enforce provisions of the False Claims Act 

(“FCA”), 31 U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., that authorize the United States to obtain “documentary material” 

and answers to “written interrogatories” that are “relevant to a false claims law investigation” through 

the issuance of Civil Investigative Demands (“CIDs”). 31 U.S.C. § 3733(a)(1). Such material may be 

obtained where, as here, the United States has not “commenc[ed] a civil proceeding” or “ma[de] an 

election” under the FCA. Id.  

Given the importance of the information sought to the United States’ investigation, the United 

States has communicated regularly with Respondents regarding the CIDs at issue, CIDs 23-1300 to 23-

1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312 (“the CIDs”); however, those communications have not borne fruit. 

Despite the United States’ attempts to accommodate Respondents (such as prioritizing certain requests), 

Respondents have produced very few documents since service of the CIDs in September of last year and 

have failed even to provide production timelines for the communications and other documents sought by 

the CIDs. As such, the United States respectfully requests the Court order the Respondents to show 

cause as to why they should not be compelled to comply with the CIDs and, ultimately, requests the 

Court enforce the CIDs. 

BACKGROUND 

Wound Pros Management Group, Inc.; Wound Pros Holdings, P.C.; Wound Pros Enterprises 

LLC; Wound Pros Technology Inc.; Wound Pros Ventures, LP; Wound Pros, P.C.; Global Wound Care 

Medical Group; Wound Pros Texas PLLC; Wound Pros Georgia, P.C.; Wound Pros Nevada, Inc.; 

Wound Pros Doctors, P.C.; and Wound Pros Tennessee, P.C. (“Respondents”) provide medical wound 

treatment and/or durable medical equipment to patients. The United States is investigating whether 

Respondents and others made false statements in claims submitted to the federal healthcare programs in 

violation of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729-3733, the Anti-Kickback Statute, 42 U.S.C. 

§ 1320a-7b, the Physician Self-Referral (“Stark”) Law, 42 U.S.C. § 1395nn, and common law. 

Specifically, the United States is investigating whether Wound Pros submitted or caused the submission 

of (1) claims for reimbursement falsely stating that services provided by non-physician personnel were 

“incident to” a physician’s services; (2) claims for medically unnecessary skin substitutes and associated 

services; (3) point of service information falsely indicating that services were provided in an office 
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setting; (4) claims for reimbursement through entities other than the one that performed the services; and 

(5) claims for durable medical equipment based on self-referrals in violation of the Stark Law. The 

United States is also investigating whether Respondents paid or caused the payment of unlawful 

kickbacks to personnel in exchange for their ordering products and services reimbursable by the federal 

healthcare programs. Specifically, the government is investigating whether Respondents paid all 

clinicians, including 1099 contractors, a bonus every time the clinicians used a skin substitute in 

violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute. 

As part of the investigation, on September 27, 2023, the CIDs were issued pursuant to the FCA 

by Jamie Ann Yavelberg, Director, U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, Commercial Litigation 

Branch, who is a designee of the Attorney General under 31 U.S.C. § 3733(a)(1). See Declaration of 

Laura Hill (“Decl.”), Exs. 1-12 (CIDs 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312). The CIDs each 

seek documents responsive to twelve document requests and answers to twelve interrogatories, id., and 

were served on counsel for the Respondents on September 29, 2023, Decl. Ex. 13. The United States is 

seeking such information and documents from Respondents in the course of an FCA investigation. 

 In response to the CIDs, served nearly nine months ago, the Respondents have produced very 

few documents, a number of which are unresponsive to the CIDs’ document requests. Of particular note, 

the Respondents have failed to produce any emails or Slack data, the two categories of documents the 

government has requested Respondents prioritize. Further, Respondents have only fully answered one of 

the twelve interrogatories.  

Emails. Respondents have not yet produced a single email. The CIDs were served on counsel for 

Respondents in September 2023. Decl., Ex. 13. Respondents did not produce any emails under original 

counsel. Respondents’ changed counsel in December 2023. On December 21, 2023, during the 

government’s first call with Respondents’ current counsel, the government focused on email production, 

requesting that Respondents provide search terms and prepare “hit” counts, showing the number of 

emails containing those search terms by January 31, 2024. Decl., Ex. 14. The government also agreed to 

Respondents’ plan to prioritize productions for certain custodians. Id.; see also Decl., Ex. 16. On 

January 17, 2024, Respondents notified the United States that they were on track to provide proposed 

search terms and hit counts by January 31, 2024. Decl., Ex. 15. On January 31, 2024, Respondents did 
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not provide such information. See Decl., Ex. 16 (requesting Respondents propose a deadline for 

providing the proposed search terms and hit counts). On February 1, 2024, the parties met and conferred 

on this topic. See id. On February 16, 2024, over two weeks later, Respondents provided proposed 

search terms, but the search terms were limited and not appropriate for an investigation of this 

magnitude. See Decl., Ex. 17 (Respondents’ Fourth Production Letter). After the government sent 

additional search terms for consideration, Respondents notified the government that they may use 

Technology Assisted Review (TAR) to review documents that hit on search terms.  

After this notification, the government requested that Respondents confirm by March 29, 2024, 

whether they intended to use TAR and, if so, to provide their proposed TAR protocol by April 9, 2024. 

Decl., Ex. 18. In response, Respondents stated they would let the government know whether they 

planned to use TAR by April 2, not March 29. Decl., Ex. 19. They also agreed to share a proposed TAR 

protocol by April 9. Id. On April 2, 2024, the Respondents failed to confirm whether they intended to 

use TAR as they had agreed, and Respondents did not provide a TAR protocol. Decl., Ex. 20. 

Respondents notified the government on April 18, two and half weeks after their proposed deadline of 

April 2, of their intent to use TAR. Decl., Ex. 21. Respondents did not provide a proposed TAR protocol 

until May 17, 2024, over a month after the agreed-upon deadline of April 9. See Decl., Exs. 26, 26-1 

(Respondents’ TAR protocol). Respondents notified the government that on June 21, almost nine 

months after service of the CIDs, they had only just begun reviewing emails for production. Decl., Ex. 

35. Respondents further notified the government that they were unable to provide a projected production 

timeline. Id. 

Slack data. Slack is a cloud-based team communication platform. Similar to emails subject to the 

CIDs, on December 21, 2023, during the government’s first call with the Respondents’ current counsel, 

the government requested the Respondents promptly begin collecting Slack content associated with an 

agreed-upon list of priority custodians. Decl., Ex. 14. Since that time, Respondents have been unable to 

report to the government whether they intend to use TAR to review the data, and, despite repeated 

requests, they have failed to provide a projected production timeline for responsive Slack data. Decl., 

Ex. 22, 25, 27, 34, 35. 
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Since the initial call with current counsel on December 21, 2023, the government has repeatedly 

requested updates from the Respondents on Slack data. On April 18, 2024, the Respondents stated they 

would provide a proposed process for reviewing Slack messages by May 2, 2024. Decl., Ex. 21. On May 

2, 2024, the government received no update from the Respondents. See Decl., Ex. 22. On May 3, 2024, 

the government again requested the Respondents share their proposed process for reviewing Slack 

messages. Id. On May 9, 2024, the Respondents provided their proposed approach for reviewing Slack 

messages. Decl., Ex. 23. Respondents intend to produce all Slack channels containing the words 

“biologic” or “biologics.” Id. According to Respondents, they expect to be able to produce these 

channels by the end of June. Decl., Ex. 35. For the remaining Slack data, Respondents proposed a 

custodial approach that prioritizes 9 custodians, similar to their email review. Id. After the government 

requested a proposed production timeline, the Respondents stated, on May 14, 2024, they would be able 

to provide a projected timeline “in the next few weeks.” Decl., Exs. 24, 25. On May 31, 2024, the 

Respondents backtracked, stating they were unable to even provide a timeline for proposing a 

production timeline. Decl., Ex. 27. As of the date of filing, Respondents have yet to provide a projected 

production timeline. See Decl., Exs. 27, 34, 35. 

Interrogatories. The Respondents have provided five sets of interrogatory answers, dated 

November 10, 2023, December 4, 2023, April 1, 2024, May 31, 2024, and June 21, 2024. Decl., Exs. 28, 

29, 30, 31, 32. The first two interrogatory productions purported to answer all twelve interrogatories, 

Decl., Ex. 28, 29, but Respondents subsequently notified the government that all of the answers were 

incomplete and needed to be amended. On April 1, 2024, Respondents amended five of the 

interrogatories. Decl. Ex. 30. Respondents subsequently notified the government that all but one of these 

answers required amendment. On May 31, 2024, Respondents provided five amended answers, but the 

government continues to have significant questions regarding the completeness and accuracy of these 

answers, which Respondents have not addressed. Decl. Ex. 33. Respondents have notified the 

government that they intend to produce a complete answer to Interrogatory 4 on June 28. Decl., Ex. 35. 

Respondents provided a response to Interrogatory 8 on June 21, 2024, but failed to include the required 
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certification of compliance. Decl., Ex. 32. Respondents have failed to provide a timeline for answering 

the remaining interrogatories. See Decl., Ex. 35. 

LEGAL STANDARD FOR ENFORCEMENT 

The FCA “is the government’s primary litigative tool for combatting fraud against the federal 

government.” United States ex rel. Kelly v. Boeing Co., 9 F.3d 743, 745 (9th Cir. 1993) (internal 

quotation marks omitted); Avco Corp. v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice, 884 F.2d 621, 622 (D.C. Cir. 1989). 

Under the FCA, a CID may be issued to “any person” the United States “has reason to believe . . . may 

be in possession, custody, or control of any documentary material or information relevant to a false 

claims law investigation.” 31 U.S.C. § 3733(a)(1). The FCA empowers the United States to issue such 

CID “before commencing a civil proceeding under [FCA] section 3730(a) or other false claims law, or 

making an election under [FCA] section 3730(b).” Id. By enacting the statutory authority for CIDs under 

the FCA, Congress sought to enable the United States “to determine whether enough evidence exist[s] to 

warrant the expense of filing [a civil] suit, as well as to prevent the potential Defendant from being 

dragged into court unnecessarily.” United States v. Witmer, 835 F. Supp. 208, 211 (M.D. Pa. 1993) 

(quoting H.R. Rep. 660, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 26 (1986)).  

A CID under the FCA is a type of administrative subpoena, and the standard for enforcing an 

administrative subpoena applies to a petition to enforce a CID. See United States v. Markwood, 48 F.3d 

969, 976 (6th Cir. 1995); accord United States v. ASG Solutions Corp., No. 17-cv-1224, 2018 WL 

1418023, at *3 (S.D. Cal. Mar. 22, 2018), adopted by, 2018 WL 3471405 (S.D. Cal. July 18, 2018). 

While the United States’ “authority to request records and undertake other investigatory functions is 

extremely broad,” Santa Fe Energy Prods. Co. v. McCutcheon, 90 F.3d 409, 414 (10th Cir. 1996) (citing 

United States v. Morton Salt Co., 338 U.S. 632, 642–43 (1950)), a court’s “role in [reviewing] the 

enforcement of an administrative subpoena is a limited one.” Markwood, 48 F.3d at 975–76; EEOC v. 

Golden Valley Elec. Ass’n, 689 F.3d 1108, 1113 (9th Cir. 2012) (“The scope of judicial review in an 

administrative subpoena enforcement proceeding is ‘quite narrow.’”); see also FTC v. Texaco, Inc., 555 

F.2d 862, 871–72 (D.C. Cir. 1977), cert. denied, 431 U.S. 974 (1977) (scope of judicial review on 

request for enforcement of administrative subpoena is “strictly limited”). 
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Enforcement of an administrative subpoena, such as a CID issued pursuant to the FCA, is proper 

as long as the Court finds that: (1) “Congress has granted authority to investigate,” (2) “procedural 

requirements have been followed,” and (3) “the evidence is relevant and material to the investigation.” 

E.E.O.C. v. Fed. Express Corp., 558 F.3d 842, 848 (9th Cir. 2009) (quoting E.E.O.C. v. Karuk Tribe 

House Auth. 260 F.3d 1071, 1076 (9th Cir. 2001)); see Morton Salt, 338 U.S. at 642–43 (administrative 

order issued by FTC); Witmer, 835 F. Supp. at 220–21 (adopting Morton Salt standard for enforcing 

CID under FCA); see also United States v. Picetti, No. 19-49, 2019 WL 1895057, at *2 (E.D. Cal. April 

29, 2019) (enforcing CID using this standard). Once the United States has demonstrated the above 

factors, the CID should be enforced unless the CID recipient demonstrates that the CID is overbroad or 

unduly burdensome. Picetti, 2019 WL 1895057, at *2; see also EEOC v. Kloster Cruise Ltd., 939 F.2d 

920, 922 (11th Cir. 1991).  
ARGUMENT 

I. Enforcement of CIDs 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312 Is Appropriate. 

A. The CIDs Are Within the Jurisdiction Provided by the FCA, and All Procedural 
Requirements Have Been Followed. 

The CIDs fall squarely within the authority provided by the FCA. The FCA provides civil 

remedies to the Government against “all fraudulent attempts to cause the Government to pay out sums of 

money.” United States v. Neifert-White Co., 390 U.S. 228, 233 (1968). Here, and as described in more 

detail above, the government is investigating allegations that the defendants caused the submission of 

claims with false information about how services were performed and/or that did not comply with the 

requirements for payment under various federal health care programs.  

When enacting the FCA authority for CIDs, Congress recognized that “[f]raud actions, by nature, 

are difficult to piece together,” and “[c]ircumstantial evidence” is “generally necessary in determining 

whether fraud has been committed.” H.R. Rep. 660, 99th Cong., 2d Sess. 26 (1986). The FCA expressly 

allows the United States to issue CIDs to investigate potential FCA violations. 31 U.S.C. § 3733(a)(1); 

accord ASG Solutions, 2018 WL 1418023, at *4.  

The CIDs also comply with all procedural requirements set forth in the FCA. The government 

properly served Respondents’ counsel, Decl., Ex. 13, and complied with the contents and deadlines 
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requirement set forth in 31 U.S.C. §§ 3733(a)(2)(B), (C), and (E), Decl., Exs. 1-12. For the document 

requests, the CIDs described each class of documentary material to be produced with definitiveness and 

certainty, prescribed a reasonable return date, and identified the false claims law investigators. Decl., 

Exs. 1-12; 31 U.S.C. §§ 3733(a)(2)(B). For the interrogatories in the CIDs, the demands set forth the 

interrogatories with specificity, prescribed reasonable dates for a return, and identified the false claims 

law investigators. Decl., Exs. 1-12; 31 U.S.C. §§ 3733(a)(2)(C). As such, the CIDs were properly issued. 

B. The Documents and Interrogatory Answers Sought by the CIDs Are Relevant to the 
Matters Under Investigation. 

“Relevancy is determined in terms of the investigation rather than in terms of evidentiary 

relevance.” Golden Valley, 689 F.3d at 1113. Relevance is broadly construed when enforcing 

administrative subpoenas, see Texaco, 555 F.2d at 872, and “[t]he relevance requirement is ‘not 

especially constraining.’” Golden Valley, 689 F.3d at 1113 (quoting Fed. Exp. Corp., 558 F.3d at 854; 

see also United States v. Joint Active Systems, Inc., 2020 WL 9747630, at *4 (D. Mass. May 20, 2020) 

(quoting ASG Solutions Corp., 2018 WL 1418023, at *5). “[C]ourts must enforce administrative 

subpoenas unless the evidence sought by the subpoena is plainly incompetent or irrelevant to any lawful 

purpose of the agency.” EEOC v. Karuk Tribe Hous. Auth., 260 F.3d 1071, 1076 (9th Cir. 2001) 

(internal quotation marks omitted). 

The CIDs seek documents and interrogatory answers that will allow the United States to evaluate 

whether the Respondents submitted, or caused the submission, of false claims. See 31 U.S.C. 

§ 3729(a)(1); Decl., Exs. 1-12. Among other items, the CIDs seek documents and interrogatory answers 

regarding the Respondents’ affiliations and corporate structure, which relates to all areas of the 

investigation but especially the Stark Law allegations and allegations regarding Respondents submitting 

claims for reimbursement through entities other than the one that performed the services; documentation 

regarding salaries, commissions, bonuses, and other remuneration, which is especially significant for the 

investigation of unlawful kickbacks; and documents and communications regarding physician 

supervision, directly related to the government’s investigation of whether Respondents submitted claims 

for reimbursement that falsely stated that services provided by non-physician personnel were directly 
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supervised by physicians, as required to bill certain federal health care programs for those services at a 

higher payment rate, as “incident to” a physician’s services. Id. The CIDs’ requests are directly relevant 

to the government’s investigation.  

C. The CIDs Are Not Indefinite or Unduly Burdensome. 

Respondents, as the CID recipients, bear the burden to show that the CIDs are indefinite or 

unduly burdensome. See Golden Valley, 689 F.3d at 1115; Texaco, 555 F.2d at 882. Where the 

investigation “is authorized by law and the materials sought are relevant to the inquiry, that burden is not 

easily met.” SEC v. Brigadoon Scotch Distrib. Co., 480 F.2d 1047, 1056 (2d Cir. 1973). 

Respondents have not provided a justification for their delay. They have lodged several 

boilerplate objections to the document requests which do not justify or speak to the delay. Among other 

objections, Respondents allege the government seeks (1) irrelevant information, (2) documents that may 

be confidential, proprietary, or privileged, (3) cumulative evidence, and (4) information outside the FCA 

statute of limitations or in the public domain. Contrary to the recipients’ objections, the government is 

not seeking privileged documents or documents outside of the statute of limitations. Dec., Ex. 27, 28, 

29, 30. And relevancy is defined broadly in the CID context. See Joint Active Systems, Inc., 2020 WL 

9747630, at *4. “Courts ‘must enforce administrative subpoenas unless the evidence sought by the 

subpoena is plainly incompetent or irrelevant to any lawful purpose of the agency.” Id. The 

government’s document requests are plainly relevant to the FCA investigation. 

The CIDs are also not unduly burdensome. The United States is investigating Respondents’ 

conduct; they are not third parties to the investigation. And “[s]ome burden on subpoenaed parties is to 

be expected and is necessary in furtherance of the [United States’] legitimate inquiry and the public 

interest,” Texaco, 555 F.2d at 882. Although everything the government requested was relevant to its 

investigation, the United States agreed to Respondents’ request to prioritize certain categories of 

documents for production; agreed to Respondents’ plan of applying search terms to documents, see, e.g., 

Decl., Exs. 14-18 (discussing search terms); worked with Respondents on a TAR protocol to apply after 

application of search terms, Decl., Exs. 26, 26-1; and agreed to prioritize the production of documents 

associated with certain custodians, Decl., Ex. 14, 16. Despite continuous efforts by the United States to 

coordinate with Respondents on a reasonable review protocol and document production schedule, 
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Respondents have produced very little in the almost nine-month period since service of the CIDs. Also, 

Respondents have been unable or unwilling to even provide a production schedule for any category of 

documents requested by the CIDs, let alone a production schedule for completing productions under the 

CIDs.  

D. Wound Pros Entities Waived Objection to CIDs 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 
23-1312. 

Pursuant to the FCA, Respondents were required to timely respond to the CIDs by either 

producing the information sought, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3733(f)(1)-(2), (g)(1), or by timely petitioning the court 

to modify or set aside the CID, id. § 3733(j)(2)(A)(i). Respondents failed to do either, thus waiving any 

arguments they could have raised to modify or set aside the CIDs. 

It has been over 270 days since Respondents received service of the CIDs. The United States has 

endeavored to work in good faith with the Respondents, but that approach has not worked. The United 

States has an “important governmental interest in the expeditious investigation of possible unlawful 

activity,” Markwood, 48 F.3d at 979. Respondents are not entitled to delay the United States’ 

investigation by refusing to comply with valid CIDs. 

CONCLUSION 

For the above reasons, the United States respectfully requests that the Court grant its petition and order 

Respondents to show cause and, ultimately, comply with CIDs 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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23-1312 on or before the deadlines proposed by the United States, or such other deadlines set by the 

Court.  

DATED: June 27, 2024    Respectfully submitted, 

       BRIAN M. BOYNTON 
       Principal Assistant Attorney General 
 
       PHILLIP A. TALBERT 
       United States Attorney 
 
       JAMIE A. YAVELBERG 
       ANDY MAO 
        
      By:  Laura Hill     
       LAURA HILL 
       Trial Attorney 
 

DAVID E. THIESS 
Assistant United States Attorney 
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1. I am a Trial Attorney in the U.S. Department of Justice, Civil Division, and have been 

assigned to work on this matter. I make this declaration in support of the United States’ petition to 

enforce compliance with Civil Investigative Demands 23-1300 to 23-1306 and 23-1308 to 23-1312 (“the 

CIDs”) issued to Wound Pros Management Group, Wound Pros Holdings, Wound Pros Enterprises, 

Wound Pros Technology, Wound Pros Ventures, Wound Pros PC, Global Wound Care Medical Group, 

Wound Pros Texas, Wound Pros Georgia, Wound Pros Nevada, Wound Pros Doctors; and Wound Pros 

Tennessee (“Respondents”). 

2. Attached hereto as Exhibits 1-12 are true and correct copy of the CIDs. 

3. Attached hereto as Exhibit 13 is a true and correct copy of a September 29, 2023, email 

serving the CIDs on Respondents’ counsel. 

4. Attached hereto as Exhibit 14 is a true and correct copy of government counsel’s 

December 21, 2023, email to Respondents’ counsel, memorializing a December 21, 2023, call. The 

email reiterates that the government requested Respondents provide search terms and prepare hit counts 

by January 31, 2024; discussed Respondents proposed custodians; and requested Respondents promptly 

begin collecting Slack content for an agreed-upon list of priority custodians. 

5. Attached hereto as Exhibit 15 is government counsel’s January 17, 2024, email 

memorializing a call on the same day with Respondents’ counsel during which Respondents noted they 

were on track to provide proposed search terms and hit counts by January 31, 2024.  

6. Attached hereto as Exhibit 16 is government counsel’s February 2, 2024, email 

memorializing a call on February 1, 2024. The email notes, “We understand that you plan to use search 

terms in connection with your review of the custodial emails, and you agreed to provide proposed search 

terms and hit counts for our consideration.” The email also requested Respondents propose a deadline by 

which the proposed search terms and hit counts would be provided.   
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7. Attached hereto as Exhibit 17 is Respondents’ Fourth Production Letter, dated February 

16, 2024, which includes Respondents’ proposed search terms.  

8. Attached hereto as Exhibit 18 is government counsel’s March 25, 2024, email, 

memorializing a March 21, 2024, call. The email notes that Respondents agreed to let government 

counsel know by March 29 whether they intended to use technology-assisted review (“TAR”) to review 

the documents that hit on the search terms. The email also provides an April 9 deadline to share a 

proposed TAR protocol. 

9. Attached hereto as Exhibit 19 is Respondents’ March 25, 2024, email, noting that 

Respondents will notify the government whether they plan to use TAR by April 2 and that they would 

circulate a proposed TAR protocol by April 9. 

10. Attached hereto as Exhibit 20 is Respondents’ April 2, 2024, email, stating, “We are still 

in the process of determining whether TAR would be a viable method to review the emails.”  

11. Attached hereto as Exhibit 21 is government counsel’s April 19, 2024, email 

memorializing a call with Respondents on April 18, 2024. The email notes that Respondents confirmed 

on April 18 their intent to use TAR and that they would provide a proposed process for reviewing Slack 

messages by May 2, 2024. 

12. Attached hereto as Exhibit 22 is government counsel’s May 3, 2024, email requesting 

Respondents provide a deadline for sharing a draft of the TAR protocol and requesting Respondents 

share their proposed process for reviewing Slack messages. 

13. Attached hereto as Exhibit 23 is Respondents’ May 9, 2024, email outlining their 

proposed approach for reviewing Slack messages and noting they were unable to provide a “firm date 

for circulation of our proposed TAR protocol” but would provide a status update by May 14, 2024, if 

they had not finalized the protocol before that date. 
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14. Attached hereto as Exhibit 24 is government counsel’s May 9, 2024, email requesting a 

proposed production timeline for the Respondents’ Slack messages and interrogatory answers.  

15. Attached hereto as Exhibit 25 is Respondents’ May 14, 2024, email, stating that they 

would be able to provide a projected timeline on Slack productions “in the next few weeks.” The email 

also fails to include a projected timeline for answering interrogatories, stating, “we are continuing to 

work with our client on verifications and amended interrogatory responses and expect to provide another 

update by this Friday, May 17, 2024.” 

16. Attached hereto as Exhibits 26 and 26-1 are Respondents’ May 17, 2024, email, 

providing a proposed TAR protocol and the proposed TAR protocol, respectively.  

17. Attached hereto as Exhibit 27 is government counsel’s May 31, 2024, email, 

memorializing two earlier calls—on May 24 and 28—with Respondents.  The email notes that 

Respondents notified the government that, as of May 28, 2024, they have not begun reviewing emails 

for production. The email further memorializes that Respondents notified the government that they were 

unable to provide an estimate for when they would begin reviewing emails and were unable to provide a 

projected production timeline. The email also confirms that the Respondents had not begun the process 

to expand the Slack data; had not begun reviewing any Slack data for production; were unable to report 

to the government whether they intended to use TAR to review the data; and were unable to provide a 

projected production timeline for responsive Slack data. 

18. Attached hereto as Exhibits 28 (November 10, 2023, Response to Interrogatories 1-12), 

29 (December 5, 2023, Respondents’ First Amended Response to Interrogatories), 30 (April 1, 2024, 

Respondents’ Second Amended Response to Interrogatories), 31 (May 31, 2024, Respondents’ Third 

Amended Response to Interrogatories), and 32 (June 21, 2024, Respondents’ Fourth Amended Response 

to Interrogatories) are Respondents’ interrogatory answers. The Answers include Respondents’ 

objections to the Interrogatories. 
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19. Attached hereto as Exhibit 33 is government’s counsel June 5, 2024, email providing 

clarifications as requested to Respondents’ May 31, 2024, interrogatory answers. The email also seeks 

clarification as to the interrogatory answers.  

20. Attached hereto as Exhibit 34 is government counsel’s June 17, 2024, email to 

Respondents’ counsel, memorializing a June 14, 2024, call. The email notes that, by June 21, 2024, 

Respondents agreed to provide an email production deadline and a deadline for producing answers to the 

remaining interrogatories. The email also states that Respondents intend to produce the “’biologics’ 

channels” —Slack channels that hit on the terms “biologics” or “biologic”—by the end of the month yet 

are unable to provide a projected production timeline for the remaining Slack data. 

21. Attached hereto as Exhibit 35 is Respondents’ counsel’s June 21, 2024, reply, noting, 

among other things, that Respondents expect to produce Slack channels that hit on “biologics” by the 

end of the month; failing to provide an email production deadline; and failing to provide a projected 

timeline for answering all remaining interrogatories. 

DATED: June 27, 2024    Respectfully submitted, 

       /s/ Laura Hill 
       LAURA HILL 
       Trial Attorney 
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